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MARYON PARK. 

Maryon Park, the ' lung ' of Charlton, which is about 12 acres in extent, was presented to the London County Council by the late Sir Spencer Maryon Maryon-Wilson, in1891. 

It was the site of an old chalk or gravel pit, and in the centre is a large mound, well covered with undergrowth, locally known as Cox's Mount. From the plateau on the top extensive views of the river can be obtained, whilst the southern and western boundaries of the park are picturesque high banks largely covered with brushwood. With the exception of the mound and banks referred to, the park is maintained as a grass area on which lawn-tennis is played. 
A handsome bandstand has been erected, upon which performances are given once a week during the season, which attract a very large number of children. After his first gift, the late Sir Spencer generously presented sufficient ground for the formation of a gymnasium for children, and for an additional entrance from Woolwich Lower Road. The name of the park was given to it at the request of the donor, who opened it to the public on October 25, 1890. Since this time over 4,000 has been spent upon various works connected with the park and its approaches. 

Although the park abuts on Mount Street, Woolwich, it is within the parish and manor of Charlton, of which the Maryon-Wilson family are lords, as well as that of Hampstead. The Manor of Charlton was given by William I. to his half-brother Odo, Bishop of Bayeux; from him it passed to Robert Bloet, Bishop of Lincoln, who gave it, somewhere about 1093, to the Priory of St. Saviour's, Bermondsey. The Dissolution, which deprived so many of the monasteries of their landed estates, resulted in the manor reverting to the King, Henry VIII. Although some leases were granted, the fee remained in the possession of the Crown till James I. granted it to one of his Northern adherents, John, Earl of Mar. King James I. dates several of his warrants and edicts from Charlton, and although there are twenty-one other places of the same name in England, the Wilson family religiously believe that he lived at Charlton House, their family seat, where the ceiling of the principal saloon is adorned with the royal arms of England. 

The manor was then sold by the Earl of Mar in 1606 for 2,000 to Sir James Erskine, who parted with it in the following year for 4,500 to Sir Adam Newton, who built the present manor-house after the design of Inigo Jones, and also in great measure rebuilt the church. This Sir Adam Newton is famous as having been the tutor of Prince Henry, who died at the early age of seventeen, when Sir Adam was entrusted with the education of Prince Charles. His influence at Court gained him many lucrative appointments, the best being that of Clerk of the Council at a salary of 2,000 a year. In 1659 the manor again changed hands, passing to Sir William Ducie, the banker of Charles I., afterwards Viscount Downe, who died here in 1679. By successive stages it passed through the families of Sir John Conyers, Bart., William Langhorne- Games, and then to the Rev. John Maryon, Rector of White 
Roding, and finally by marriage to the W T ilson family.

* The manor-house, Charlton House, built of red brick and stone, is a fine example of the florid Jacobean type. 

Maryon Park forms part of Hanging Wood, which has been considerably curtailed in size. It originally stretched from Woolwich Common to the Lower Road, Charlton, and 
formed a secure retreat for the highwaymen who plied their trade on Shooter's Hill and Blackheath. The Assize Rolls of the thirty-ninth year of Henry III. (A.D. 1255) contain a 
reference to the ' wood of Woolwych,' and we may reasonably suppose that Hanging Wood is the place referred to. 

It is as follows : ' John, son of Henry Juventus, was found dead without any mark upon him

in the wood of Woolwych. The first finder and the dead man's four next neighbours 
were attached and not suspected. Verdict, mischance. '"|* 

* Lysons, 'Environs of London,' vol. i:, part ii., pp. 431, 432. 
t Quoted in Vincent's ' Records of the Woolwich District,' vol. ii. 
p. 696. 


The town of Woolwich was fined on this occasion for not holding an inquest. 

Hanging Wood would now be out of the way of travellers on the main road ; but some years ago there was a road which is now extinct, or nearly so leading from the cross- 
roads at Shooter's Hill (near the present police-station) to the Lower Road through the wood. This lane is thus described by Lysons : 


* There are in Charlton about ninety acres of woodland called Hanging Wood, belonging to the lord of the manor, through which there is a very pleasant walk to Woolwich. The wood, the variety of uneven ground, and the occasional views of the river, contribute to make the neighbourhood remarkably picturesque.'*

* Lysons, * Environs of London.' vol. i., part ii., p. 430.

 A newspaper extract of 1761 tells us that the right kind of hypericum for the cure of worms grows wild in Charlton Wood, near Woolwich. 

In olden times the unhappy traveller through the wood along this road would have run considerable risk of being robbed by footpads. The following extracts from contemporary newspapers give us some idea of these ' good old times.' 

Under 1732 we read : ' On Sunday morning the Rev. Mr. Richardson, going from Lewisham to preach at Woolwich, was attacked by a footpad in Hanging Wood, 
who robbed him of a guinea (leaving him but twopence) and then made off.'

In January, 1762, it was recorded that ' several people have been robbed this week in Hanging 
Wood, near Woolwich.' Once again, in 1782, ' Three men robbed a boatswain of a man-of-war, near Hanging Wood, of his watch and ten guineas, but some gentleman coming 
up, they took to the wood.' t

t Quoted in Vincent's ' Records of the Woolwich District,' p. 697.

A more distinguished resident, Lieutenant-General Sir William Congreve, who projected 
and completed the Repository, was returning in his carriage from London to Charlton, when he was attacked by two footpads, who issued from a pit on the side of the road cross- 
ing Blackheath, called the Devil's Punchbowl. He fired his pistol at his assailants, who fled after encountering this unexpected opposition, and although they were tracked to 
Hanging Wood, they succeeded in making their escape. 

The Newgate Calendar records the trial of two highwaymen who were pursued by the whole garrison of Woolwich, and eventually captured in the wood, where they had imitated the example of hunted foxes, and had gone to earth in an old drain.* 

* Vincent, * Records of the Woolwich District,' p. 413.

The Ordnance map shows the ground to the immediate south-west of Maryon Park as the site of an ancient Roman camp. There is reason to suppose that the sites of all the 
towns south of the river were occupied as villages, camps, or fortifications by the succeeding conquerors of Britain. The commanding position of this portion of the wood would certainly be a favourable one from a military point of view, 
and there are sure proofs of the site having been occupied as a fortified camp. Other portions of Hanging Wood have similar, though less apparent, indications of these fortified camps. 

The present appearance of Maryon Park, with its central eminence, was probably caused by the excavation of sand, for which the whole of this district has been famous. 
This used to be in great request for the sanding of the parlour floors before carpets became the fashion, and also for use in engineering foundries. 

An extract from a letter of 1762 states : 


' The captain, contrary to his intention or desire, being obliged to call at Woolwich, we walked thither. . . . Having spent ye evening very temperately, considering the manner of such partings, we went on board the captain's six-oared boat at ye west end of the yard, where almost all ye sand used by the housewives of London is put on board barges from carts, which bring it down from ye neighbouring hill.'f 


f Quoted in Vincent's 'Records of the Woolwich District,' p. 23.

The site of the park, including the whole of Mount Street extending to the old Toll Gate, was known as the Charlton Sandpits. These were worked for many years by a person of the name of Blight. 


170 OPEN SPACES OF LONDON 

The area of the park is too restricted to allow of cricket being played, with the one exception in favour of the boys of the training-ship Warspite, which lies at anchor in the 
Thames off Charlton. This was made one of the conditions in the deed of gift. A peculiar interest attaches to this man-of-war, chiefly centering around the figure-head of the 
old craft. This is a carved representation of the Duke of Wellington, which was appropriately affixed to the ship when she bore her first name of Waterloo. She had been 
specially fitted at no small expense to go out as flagship of the Mediterranean squadron in 1852, but at the last moment the British Cabinet intervened, and put pressure on the 
Admiralty to keep back the Waterloo and send out another ship in her place. It was just after the coup d'etat in France, and it was thought in high quarters that the name of 
Waterloo might hurt the feelings of the new master of France, Louis Napoleon. So the Waterloo remained in home waters, and was rechristened the Conqueror some time 
afterwards in a very quiet way ; but it was not unnoticed, for a protest was raised against it in the very quarter where it was desired to avoid offence. The French naval Attache 
to England, the story goes, on learning of the change of name, angrily took exception to it. ' Waterloo ! Conqueror /' he declared ' Conqueror ! Mon Dieu ! zat is ten tousand 
time varse!' The second name of the ship had to stand, however, and the selection was somehow explained away. When the Conqueror became a boys' school ship she took 
over the name Warspite from her predecessor at Charlton, the old Warspite of 1807, which had been allotted to the Marine Society in the first place for their institution.* 

* Daily Graphic, April 16, 1895.

The highest part of Maryon Park, viz., the Mount, was formerly used as a semaphore-station in connection with that at Shooter's Hill. 

This mound and its approaches 
were rented in 1838 from the Lord of the Manor by a gentle- man named Cox, who resided at No. 5, Charlton Terrace, for the purposes of cultivation and recreation. He planted 
the mound round with poplars, and built a large summer- house in the centre where he entertained his friends. It thus acquired its local name of Cox's Mount, which it has 
retained to the present day. At the time when the mound was leased the whole of the land in the rear of Charlton Terrace to the main Charlton road was occupied for agricultural purposes. 

In addition to being used as a semaphore-station, the mound was rented in 1850 by the Admiralty for the purpose of adjusting ships' compasses. Ten years later they removed 
their station to the Maryon Road, and built a small observatory for this object. 

When the park was being laid out, the workmen came across the foundation of an old kiln in levelling the ground at the base of the mound. This was one of several kilns formerly used for burning red bricks, a large quantity of which, were made here. A deep well was sunk by the late Lord of the Manor near the site of the present lodge in order 
to obtain water to make these bricks. 



